
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA  

   
Case No.: SC19-_____ 

POINT CONVERSIONS, LLC,       
      A.C. 1D19-3934 
Petitioner,      L.T. 01-2019-CA-00641 

vs.  

NATHA GOVAN INC.  
 

Respondents.  
_________________________________/ 

 
PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

AND ALL WRITS JURISDICTION 
 

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure (“Rule”) 9.100 and 

9.030(a)(3), Petitioner, Point Conversions, LLC. (“PC”), petitions this Court for a 

writ of mandamus and the Court’s all writs jurisdiction to direct the Florida First 

District Court of Appeal (“First District”) to adhere to the rules outlined in 

Fla.R.App.P. 9.100(h) and require Respondent, Natha Govan Inc. (“Natha”), to 

respond to the First District’s order to show cause why PC’s writ of mandamus 

should not be granted (“Order”). Alternatively, PC seeks to prohibit the First District 

from converting PC’s mandamus into an appeal and dismissing it prior to Natha 

responding to the Order. 

PC also seeks the Court to exercise its all writs jurisdiction to clarify the law as 

to what constitutes, “on the merits” for purposes of binding precedent to ensure all 

issues are uniformly considered. Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 2004). 
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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

1. Whether a district court may convert a proper mandamus proceeding into an 

appeal and subsequently dismiss it after the district court has entered an order to 

show cause why a petitioner’s writ of mandamus should not be granted but before 

Respondent responds to same. See Fla.R.App.P. 9.100(h). 

2.  Whether elaborated orders entered that emanate from writs of prohibition 

which also contain the words, “without prejudice” are binding precedent on other 

courts when determining subject matter jurisdiction (“SMJ”) and/or conflict 

preemption which are dynamic issues that evolve with the procedural posture and 

facts of the case? Put in context: Once a Federal district court, one of limited 

jurisdiction, determinations that the allegations raised in a complaint do not, ‘arise 

under’ patent law (28 U.S.C. §1338(a)) pursuant to Gunn1 and remands a case back 

to state court, when a state, district court denied a writ of prohibition that sought to: 

prevent the Circuit Court…from continuing to exercise subject 
matter jurisdiction in the action below in violation of 28 U.S.C. § 
1338(a), which divests state courts of subject matter jurisdiction 
to hear state law claims “arising under” federal patent law.    

and provided an explanation why but did so without prejudice, at that procedural 

posture, is the SMJ issue binding on other courts in light of Topps2 and Pardo3 ? 

 
1 Gunn v. Minton, 568 U.S. 251 (2013) 
2 Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 2004) 
3 Pardo v. State, 596 So. 2d 665, 666 (Fla. 1992) 
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I. 

BASIS FOR INVOKING JURISDICTION 

PC invokes this Court's jurisdiction for issuance of writs of mandamus pursuant 

to Art. V, §3 (b)(8), Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(3) as mandamus is proper 

compel the performance of a ministerial duty imposed by law where it has not been 

performed as the law requires. State ex rel. Clendinen v. Dekle, 173 So.2d 452 

(Fla.1965). Here, PC seeks this Court to direct the First District to require Natha to 

respond to the Order entered in accordance with Fla.R.App.P. 9.100(h).  

PC also invokes this Court's all writs jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, §3 (b)(7), 

Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(3) to prohibit the First District from 

employing procedures that “encroach on this Court’s ultimate jurisdiction to adopt 

rules for the courts” as prescribed in Art. V, § 2(a), Fla. Const. See United Services 

Auto. Ass'n v. Goodman, 826 So. 2d 914, 915 (Fla. 2002). 

Additionally, PC seeks to invoke this Court’s all writs jurisdiction (ancillary or 

otherwise) and submits this case presents a, “unique procedural posture” and an 

appropriate circumstance for the Court to address the binding, precedential effect of 

an elaborated denial of a writ of prohibition without prejudice as it relates to SMJ at 

a given procedural posture for clarification of the law. Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 

1253, 1257 (Fla. 2004) 
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II. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

A.  Relevant Litigation History 

1. PC entered into a valid agreement and acquired an exclusive license (or 

property right) to a portfolio of patents on September 01, 2017 which gave PC the 

exclusive rights to utilize features protected by the patents for the development and 

use of its software, “Point Boundaries.” (App 070)  

2. After the acquisition of this property right and software development, PC 

sought to enter the marketplace with Point Boundaries to utilize its exclusive, 

software features pertaining to the loyalty programs, such as the transfer of loyalty 

points across program boundaries. (i.e. transferring Amex points to Delta miles). 

3. To PC’s chagrin and detriment, however, Natha, and other hotel-franchisees 

were unlawfully using and benefiting from PC’s property; so, to enforce its exclusive 

license and property rights, PC filed its first “test-case” against another hotel 

franchisee like Natha in March 2018 in state court4 to ensure its claims were viable 

and raised in the appropriate forum.  

4. The test-case, which is identical to the one at hand in respect to SMJ, was 

removed to Federal court in the Southern District of Florida whereby it was alleged 

 
4 Point Conversions LLC. v. Tropical Paradise Resorts LLC. in The Seventeenth 
Juridical Circuit in and for Broward County Florida, COCE18-006299. 
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PC’s claims arose under patent law pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1338(a). The Federal court 

remanded PC’s case back to state court finding it did not arise under patent law based 

on the governing factors of Gunn5; thus, no SMJ. (App 004) 

5. Following remand, a writ of prohibition was filed in The Fourth District Court 

of Appeal (“Fourth”), “to prevent the Circuit Court…from continuing to exercise 

subject matter jurisdiction in the action below in violation of 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a), 

which divests state courts of subject matter jurisdiction to hear state law claims 

‘arising under’ federal patent law.” (App 017)   

6. The Fourth entered an ordered stating that, “the petition for writ of prohibition 

is dismissed without prejudice. Petitioner may raise its conflict preemption defense 

through a proper motion in the trial court and appeal from a final judgement if 

necessary further…” (App 108) 

7. As the Federal court, one of limited jurisdiction, remanded PC’s complaint 

and the Fourth denied the writ of prohibition, the state courts de facto must have 

SMJ because otherwise, PC would be totally denied access to courts which, “cannot 

be countenanced in light of Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution” Jacobs 

Wind Elec. Co. v. Dep't of Transp., 626 So. 2d 1333, 1337 (Fla. 1993). 

 

 

 
5 Supra note 1. 
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B. Natha in the Trial Court

8. Having confirmed PC’s claims are viable and the appropriate forum to seek

redress and relief, PC filed forty-six (46) identical complaints against other 

franchisees across Florida in state court; one of which, was Natha. 

9. On February 22, 2019, PC filed its complaint. (App 070)

10. On June 27, 2019, the trial court granted Natha’s motion to dismiss for lack

of SMJ without addressing the U.S. Supreme Court’s governing standards of Gunn6 

or reconciling this Court’s opinion in Jacobs Wind7. (App 109)  

11. Notably, this is not unique to Natha. For reasons unknown, every trial court 

state-wide8 who has heard this SMJ issue and entered an order has either 

completely neglected to address the Gunn factors or  misapplies them. 

12. Likewise, these courts do not reconcile or acknowledge the remand from the 

test-case and the Fourth’s elaborated denial of the writ of prohibition. (App 108) 

13. On July 11, 2019, PC filed a motion to reconsider and rehearing certain that 

the trial court must have SMJ and the trial court heard additional argument and on 

October 14, 2019, the trial court entered an order on PC’s motion to reconsider and 

granted Natha’s motion to dismiss for lack of SMJ with prejudice. (App 114) 

6 Gunn v. Minton, 568 U.S. (2013) (“Gunn”); See also Grable & Sons Metal Prod., 
Inc. v. Darue Eng'g & Mfg., 545 U.S. (2005). 
7 Jacobs Wind Elec. v. Dept. of Transp, 626 So. 2d 1333 (Fla. 1993). 
8 Jacksonville, Gainesville, Tampa, Sarasota, West Palm Beach, Fort Lauderdale. 
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  C.  Natha in the Appellate Court 

14.   When the trial court found it lacked SMJ prior to Natha answering, PC filed 

its petition for writ of mandamus on October 29, 2019, as mandamus is proper to 

challenge the correctness of the trial court’s determination that it lacks jurisdiction. 

See e.g. Griffin v. Sistuenck, 816 So.2d 600 (Fla. 2002). (App 120)  

15.   PC’s petition for writ of mandamus was acknowledged by the First District 

on October 30, 2019. (App 155).  

16.   On November 01, 2019, in accordance with Fla.R.App.P. 9.100(h), the First 

District acknowledged that PC’s mandamus was facially sufficient and proper when 

it entered its Order stating, “No later than December 2, 2019, Respondent shall show 

cause why the petition for writ of mandamus should not be granted. Petitioner may 

file a reply within 30 days thereafter.” (App 156)  

17.   On November 26, 2019, Natha filed a motion to consolidate (App 157) and 

the next day, just five (5) days before Natha’s response was due, the First District 

entered an order stating in part (App 174):  

In light of Respondent’s motion to consolidate filed November 
26, 2019, it appears that the order under review is more 
appropriately reviewed by appeal rather than by 
mandamus…Therefore, Petitioner shall show cause within 10 
days of the date of this order why this proceeding should not be 
converted to an appeal and dismissed. 
 

18.   On December 08, 2019, PC filed its response per the Order (App 176) 

19.   These petitions follow.  
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III. 

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT 

By way of mandamus and all writs relief, PC seeks this Court to quash the 

November 27, 2019, order and any further postponement of the mandamus 

proceeding and direct the First District to order Natha to respond to PC’s writ of 

mandamus as required by Fla.R.App.P. 9.100(h).  

By way of mandamus and all writs relief, PC seeks this Court to quash the 

November 27, 2019, order and prohibit the First District from any attempt to convert 

the proper, mandamus proceeding into an appeal and dismissing it; and prevent the 

First District from deviating or adding to the prescribed Florida Rules of Appellate 

Procedure as they apply to writs.  

Should the Court deem the circumstances just and appropriate, PC seeks this 

Court by its all writs jurisdiction (ancillary or otherwise) to address whether the 

Fourth’s elaborated denial of a writ of prohibition without prejudice pertaining to 

SMJ, coupled with the Federal court’s remand, is binding on other courts. 
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IV. 

ARGUMENT 
 

As a preliminary matter, the Order states, “…it appears that the order under 

review is more appropriately reviewed by appeal rather than by mandamus;” 

however, with the utmost respect, PC submits the opposite is true. (App 174)  

PC sought the First District to correct the trial courts determination that it lacks 

SMJ to hear PC’s case (App 120); and the law is clear mandamus is the proper, legal 

vehicle to test the correctness of that determination: “Mandamus is properly used to 

test the correctness of a determination of no jurisdiction by a court of lesser 

jurisdiction.” Pino v. Dist. Court of Appeal, Third Dist., 604 So. 2d 1232, 1233 (Fla. 

1992); see also Gant v. Nat'l Linen, 999 So. 2d 1079, 1080 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009) 

Further, it is a long-established rule of statutory construction, “that a special 

statute covering a particular subject matter is controlling over a general statutory 

provision covering the same and other subjects in general terms.” Adams v. Culver, 

111 So. 2d 665, 667 (Fla. 1959). Extraordinary writs of mandamus are exactly that 

– extraordinary. An appeal is not. The fact that petitions for mandamus are expressly 

delineated, separate, and distinct from final appeals indicates that if a facially, 

sufficient mandamus has been shown as it was here, a mandamus proceeding is more 

appropriate than an appeal. See Rule 9.030(b)(3) and Rule 9.030(b)(1). 
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  A. The Appellate Rules of Procedure Do Not Allow the First District to Convert 
the Mandamus Proceeding into an Appeal and Enter a Dismissal 

  (i) Legal Considerations 

“It is well settled that the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure9 are construed in 

accordance with the principles of statutory construction.” Saia Motor Freight Line, 

Inc. v. Reid, 930 So. 2d 598, 599 (Fla. 2006); Brown v. State, 715 So.2d 241, 243 

(Fla.1998) (“Our courts have long recognized that the rules of construction 

applicable to statutes also apply to the construction of rules.”). “When the language 

of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, 

there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and 

construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning.” Holly v. 

Auld, 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla.1984) (quoting A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 

Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157, 159 (1931)).  

Under the principal of statutory construction, expressio unius est exclusio 

alterius10, “the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another,” the fact that 

a petition for mandamus is separately outlined in the Rules and courts are all in 

accord that mandamus is proper for determining the correctness that a court lacks 

 
9 The following cases are referenced for the proposition that similar principals of 
statutory interpretation and construction are applicable to construing appellate rules 
and procedures. Casto v. Casto, 404 So. 2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. 1981); Koppel v. Ochoa, 
243 So. 3d 886, 891 (Fla. 2018); Taylor v. Dep't of Prof'l Regulation, Bd. of Med. 
Examiners, 520 So. 2d 557, 560 (Fla. 1988). 
10 E.g. Moonlit Waters Apartments, Inc. v. Cauley, 666 So. 2d 898, 900 (Fla. 1996). 
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SMJ (not final appeals), there is no good reason for this proceeding in equity or in 

law to convert this mandamus proceeding into an appeal and dismiss it. This Court 

acknowledged the procedures and events specific to petitions; and the substantive 

differences between petitions and appeals in Advanced Chiropractic holding in part:  

[R]ule 9.100 requires a party to file a petition, and, if the court issues 
an order to show cause, the respondent is ordered to file a response 
to the petition. Fla. R.App. P. 9.100(h), (j). The petitioner may then 
file a reply. Fla. R.App. P. 9.100(k). The parties to a rule 9.100 
proceeding may not file briefs. See Fla. R.App. P. 9.100, Comm. 
Notes (noting that “[t]his rule does not allow the petitioner to file a 
brief” and that “[a] single responsive pleading (without a brief ) may 
... be served”) (emphasis supplied). Advanced Chiropractic & Rehab. 
Ctr., Corp. v. United Auto. Ins. Co., 140 So. 3d 529, 533 (Fla. 2014) 
 

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.100(h) contemplates two (2) options for 

a district court once a facially sufficient mandamus has been shown – neither of 

which include converting11 a proper mandamus into an appeal and dismissing same: 

 
11 Conversions of one appellate remedy to another are equitable principals governed 
by Rule 9.040(c), “If a party seeks an improper remedy, the cause shall be treated as 
if the proper remedy had been sought; provided that it shall not be the responsibility 
of the court to seek the proper remedy.” See also Art. V, § 2, Fla. Const. As such, 
the long-standing tenets of writs as extraordinary remedies might call for an appeal 
to be converted to a mandamus if improperly mischaracterized or labeled; however, 
once a proper foundation for mandamus has been established and an order entered 
(or alternative writ), there is no reason or authority that permits a proper mandamus 
proceeding to be converted to an appeal and dismissed at least until respondent 
answers the order to show cause. See, e.g., Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 537 So.2d 
96 (Fla.1989)(appeal treated as certiorari); Skinner v. Skinner, 561 So.2d 260 
(Fla.1990)(certiorari treated as appeal). Converting a mandamus to an appeal occurs 
when a prima facie case for mandamus has not been shown or the petitioner has not 
shown a clear, non-discretionary right to relief. see e.g. Suarez v. Port Charlotte 
HMA, LLC, 171 So. 3d 740, (Fla. 2nd DCA 2015).  
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(h) Order to Show Cause. If the petition demonstrates a 
preliminary basis for relief, a departure from the essential 
requirements of law that will cause material injury for which 
there is no adequate remedy by appeal, or that review of final 
administrative action would not provide an adequate remedy,  

(1) the court may issue an order either directing the 
respondent to show cause, within the time set by the court, 
why relief should not be granted  

or  

(2) directing the respondent to otherwise file, within the time 
set by the court, a response to the petition. In prohibition 
proceedings, the issuance of an order directing the 
respondent to show cause shall stay further proceedings in 
the lower tribunal. 

Here, PC demonstrated a basis for mandamus relief and the First District chose the 

first option when ordering, “No later than December 2, 2019, Respondent shall show 

cause why the petition for writ of mandamus should not be granted. Petitioner may 

file a reply within 30 days thereafter.” (App 156) Therefore, in accordance with Rule 

9.100(h), Natha should be ordered to respond. See also Advanced Chiro at 533. 

   Similarly, the Rules of Appellate Procedure have an expressed provision 

pertaining to appellate dismissals. See Rule 9.350. As this Court stated in in Pino12:  

The rule provides in pertinent part: 

 
 
All of these scenarios are inapplicable here because mandamus is the proper relief 
to correct the trial court’s determination it lacks SMJ, PC does have a clear right to 
access to courts under the Florida Constitution, and the only way the trial court could 
lack SMJ at this juncture would require Natha to answer PC’s complaint. 
12  Pino v. Bank of New York, 76 So. 3d 927, 929 (Fla. 2011). 
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(a) Dismissal of Causes When Settled. When any cause 
pending in the court is settled before a decision on the merits, 
the parties shall immediately notify the court by filing a signed 
stipulation for dismissal. 
 
(b) Voluntary Dismissal. A proceeding of an appellant or 
petitioner may be dismissed before a decision on the merits by 
filing a notice of dismissal with the clerk of the court without 
affecting the proceedings filed by joinder or cross-appeal.... 

 
Again, under the expressio unius est exclusio alterius doctrine, none of these 

scenarios are applicable here and PC’s petition should not be dismissed.  

By default, the only dismissal vehicle available is an involuntary dismissal 

which appears only invoked as a sanction13, non-compliance with a court order, 

untimely brief, or failure to pay filing fees; and more commonly reserved in cases 

where there is a procedural or jurisdictional bar for appellate review. See e.g. 

Bloomgarden v. Mandel, 154 So. 3d 451, 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 2014). Here, PC has 

properly asserted a facially sufficient writ of mandamus concerning the trial court’s 

correctness of SMJ. The writ was acknowledged by the First District as being 

facially sufficient given the Order directing Natha to explain why PC’s writ should 

not be granted. As such, there is no legal reason or mechanism that permits the First 

District to convert this mandamus proceeding into an appeal five (5) days before 

Natha’s response was due (emphasis added). 

 
13 See Fla.R.App.P. 9.410 requiring that an appellate court give ten days notice 
before imposing sanctions, such as dismissal, for the violation of any of the Florida 
Rules of Appellate Procedure 
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  (ii) Practical Considerations 

PC posits that one reason why the Rules do not authorize the conversion of a 

proper mandamus proceeding to an appeal and subsequent dismissal is that it would 

contradict an overarching purpose and objective of appellate courts in that they strive 

to always attempt to decide a case on the merits whenever possible and swiftly – not 

find ways to avoid and prolong it:  

We see no reason why either appellate decision-making or 
appellate practice should differ in any substantial way from the 
manner in which cases are determined and presented in the trial 
courts: with an equally effective determination that, as far as 
possible, cases are to be determined on their merits. Gregory v. 
Gregory, 289 So. 2d 468, 469 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) 

 
Fla.R.App.P 9.040(d) provides: “At any time in the interest of 
justice, the court may permit any part of the proceeding to be 
amended so that it may be disposed of on the merits. In the absence 
of amendment the court may disregard any procedural error or 
defect that does not adversely affect the substantial rights of the 
parties.” It is apparent that the intent of the rule is that appeals be 
decided on their merits. Sebree v. Salcedo, 390 So. 2d 801, 802 
(Fla. 3d DCA 1980)(concurring opinion). 
 

In a similar vein, Article V, Section 2(a), of the Constitution provides, “The Supreme 

Court shall adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts including ... the 

transfer to the court having jurisdiction of any proceeding when the jurisdiction of 

another court has been improvidently invoked, and a requirement that no cause shall 
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be dismissed because an improper remedy has been sought.”14 Here, the proceeding 

was commenced in the appropriate court and as stated throughout, mandamus is the 

proper remedy to challenge a trial courts determination that it lacks SMJ. 

Further, jurisdiction over the subject matter refers to a court's power to hear and 

determine a controversy. See Bohlinger v. Higgenbothan, 70 So.2d 911 (Fla.1954). 

Generally, it is tested, as it was in this case, by the allegations as pled in Plaintiff’s 

complaint and not dependent upon the ultimate disposition of the lawsuit. Malone v. 

Meres, 91 Fla. 709, 109 So. 677 (1926); Calhoun v. New Hampshire Ins. Co., 354 

So. 2d 882, 883 (Fla. 1978). Since SMJ is a question of law that is reviewed de novo 

and PC’s complaint is the only legal document to be scrutinized since Natha has not 

answered, PC respectfully submits that there is no good reason or benefit by having 

to start all over again from scratch on an appeal. See Krause v. Textron Financial 

Corp., 59 So. 3d 1085, 1089 (Fla. 2011). Stated differently, what purpose is served 

by compiling a record of extraneous motions, attorney argument, or other filings 

outside of the operative complaint?  

It makes sense why courts have held for decades that mandamus is proper to 

challenge a lower courts determination it lacks SMJ and does not explicitly require 

 
14 In response to that provision, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.040(b) and 
(c) was adopted providing: “if a proceeding is commenced in an inappropriate court, 
that court shall transfer the cause to an appropriate court” and that “if a party seeks 
an improper remedy, the cause shall be treated as if the proper remedy had been 
sought....” see Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 537 So. 2d 96, 97 (Fla. 1989). 
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a final order. Practically speaking, consider what has occurred here: The trial court 

entered an order finding it does not have SMJ to hear PC’s case and does not have 

the power to preside over or determine the controversy. Naturally, this would include 

entering orders. Effectively then, the trial court’s order finding it lacks SMJ is 

arguably final and no more judicial labor is required because if the proceeding were 

dismissed and sent back to the trial court as the suggested by the First District to 

retrieve a final order, that would necessarily require the trial court to contradict itself 

by having to enter an additional, final order in a case where the court has already 

determined it does not have the power to hear. 

Taking all the above into account coupled with Rule 9.040(a), “In all 

proceedings a court shall have such jurisdiction as may be necessary for a complete 

determination of the cause,” PC respectfully submits the First District should not and 

cannot covert this proper mandamus proceeding into an appeal and dismiss it before 

a response. This proceeding ought to be decided on the merits at its current, 

procedural posture where a decision on this SMJ issue is about to be reached. 

CONCLUSION 

PC paid significant consideration to acquire its exclusive, software license in 

September 2017 and attempted to enforce in property rights against Natha in 

February 2019 when filing its complaint. (App 070) Roughly ten (10) months have 
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passed and Natha has not even answered or participated in any discovery15. PC 

reiterates its confidence that this SMJ issue is not a close call and it never has been; 

particularly after a Federal court has already held PC’s claims do not belong there, 

followed by the Fourth’s denial of the writ and this Court’s holding in Jacobs16. The 

trial courts, however, do not recognize the Fourth’s order after the Federal remand 

which is why PC seeks to invoke the all writs provision and determine the binding 

effect of elaborated orders entered without prejudice that emanate from writs of 

prohibition pertaining to SMJ post Federal remand. In light of the remand, PC’s 

question posed to the state, trial courts remains unanswered: If not here, where?  

Every day that passes where PC cannot enforce its license and software rights, 

PC’s damages grow and further harmed – hence the justification for the significant 

time and expense spent drafting the petition for writ of mandamus and assembling 

the appendix since writs by design are to bring about a “speedy remedy.” Bal 

Harbour Vill. v. State ex rel. Giblin, 299 So. 2d 611, 617 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974)). PC 

respectfully submits converting this proper, mandamus proceeding to an appeal and 

dismissing is a novel, inequitable proposition; and PC should not be forced to wait 

longer to receive an answer or expend more time, money, and resources on an appeal. 

Not only is there no rule that allows the First District to convert PC’s mandamus to 

 
15 Notably, in all forty-six (46) cases state-wide, courts have not permitted PC to 
conduct meaningful discovery since initially filing suit in February 2019. 
16 Supra note 7. 
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an appeal and dismiss it just five (5) days before Natha’s response is due, but this 

would also be highly prejudicial to PC and contradict appellate tenets like, “the 

purpose of the appellate rules is to provide for a prompt and orderly disposition of 

appeals to the end that those ‘delays' in the judicial process…”17 and appellate rules, 

“should not be so construed as to require an unnecessary expense to a litigant.18” 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner, Point Conversions, LLC, respectfully requests the 

Court grant its Petition and quash the First District’s order entered on November 27, 

2019 (App 174), and prevent any further postponement of this proceeding from 

being decided on its merits, direct the First District to order Natha to respond to PC’s 

writ of mandamus as required by Fla.R.App.P. 9.100(h); and any further relief the 

Court deems just and proper under the circumstances.    

DATED: December 18, 2019. 
 

FERGUSON LAW, P.A. 
Attorney for Petitioner 
1323 Southeast 3rd Avenue 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316 
T – (954) 256 – 5646 
E-Mail: Wayne@FergusonLawPA.com 

 
/s/ Kenneth W. Ferguson 
Kenneth W. Ferguson, Esq. 
FBN: 98950 

 

 
17 Parada Holding Co. v. Sulkin, 126 So. 2d 601, 602 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961). 
18 Grace v. Grace, 162 So. 2d 314, 317 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964) citing Thompson v. 
Food Fair Stores of Florida, Inc., Fla.App., 107 So.2d 393). 

mailto:Wayne@FergusonLawPA.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was 

furnished to the following via email and U.S. Mail on the E-Filed date of this 

document using the Florida Courts E-Portal Filing system, this 18th day of December 

2019 to the following persons and properly served this filing. 

Natha Govan Inc. 
Attorneys for Respondent 
Tim Gillis (Tgillis@shutts.com) 
Morgan Foster (Mfoster@shutts.com) 
Joseph W. Bain (Jbain@shutts.com) 
SHUTTS & BOWEN LLP 
1022 Park Street, Suite 308 
Jacksonville, Florida 32204 
T – (904) 899-9950 
 
and as parties pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.100(e)(2) and Rule 9.100(b)(3) 
 
Honorable Judge Donna M. Keim   First District Court of Appeal 
Alachua Cty. Family and Civil Justice Ctr.  2000 Drayton Drive 
201 E. University Ave. Room 416   Tallahassee, FL 32399-0950 
Gainesville, FL 32601 
Hallt@Circuit8.org 
      
Respectfully Submitted, 
   
FERGUSON LAW, P.A. 
Attorney for Petitioner 
1323 Southeast 3rd Avenue 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316 
T – (954) 256 – 5646 
E-Mail: Wayne@FergusonLawPA.com 
 
/s/ Kenneth W. Ferguson 
Kenneth W. Ferguson, Esq. 
FBN: 98950 
 
 

mailto:Mfoster@shutts.com
mailto:Hallt@Circuit8.org
mailto:Wayne@FergusonLawPA.com
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH FONT REQUIREMENTS 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Petition for Writ of Mandamus and All 

Writ Provision complies with the font requirements of Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(l). 

 
FERGUSON LAW, P.A. 
Attorney for Petitioner 
1323 Southeast 3rd Avenue 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316 
T – (954) 256 – 5646 
F – (954) 256 – 5655 
Service:Service@FergusonLawPA.com 
E-Mail: Wayne@FergusonLawPA.com 

 
/s/ Kenneth W. Ferguson 
Kenneth W. Ferguson, Esq. 
FBN: 98950 
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